

**THE COMPANIES ORDINANCE
(CHAPTER 622 OF THE LAWS OF HONG KONG)**

**COMPANY LIMITED BY GUARANTEE AND
NOT HAVING A SHARE CAPITAL**

**AMENDED AND RESTATED ARTICLES OF ASSOCIATION
OF
WAH YAN COLLEGE, KOWLOON
PAST STUDENTS' ASSOCIATION LIMITED
(九龍華仁書院舊生會有限公司)**

(Adopted by way of special resolutions of the Association at the extraordinary general meeting held on [22] March 2024)

Preliminary

1.
 - (a) The name of the Association is "WAH YAN COLLEGE, KOWLOON PAST STUDENTS' ASSOCIATION LIMITED (九龍華仁書院舊生會有限公司)".
 - (b) The registered office of the Association ~~will be~~is situated in Hong Kong.
 - (c) The liability of the members is limited.
 - (d) Every member of the Association undertakes to contribute to the assets of the Association, in the event of the same being wound up during the time that he is a member, or within one year afterwards, for payment of the debts and liabilities of the Association contracted before the time at which he ceases to be a member, and of the costs, charges and expenses of winding-up the same and for the adjustment of the rights of the contributories amongst themselves, such amount as may be required, not exceeding Hong Kong ten dollars.
 - (e) The Association is declared to consist of an unlimited number of members.
2. These Articles shall be construed with reference to the provisions of the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong), and terms used herein shall be taken as having the same respective meanings as they have when used in that Ordinance. In these Articles, unless there be something in the subject or context inconsistent therewith:

"Association" means the association registered as "WAH YAN COLLEGE, KOWLOON PAST STUDENTS' ASSOCIATION LIMITED (九龍華仁書院舊生會有限公司)".

"Basic Members" mean the basic members of the Association

"Chairman" means the Chairman of the Association for the time being

"Committee" means the members of the ~~executive~~Committee of the Association hereby constituted

"General Meeting(s)" means the Annual General Meeting(s) or the Extraordinary General Meeting(s) of the Association

"Hong Kong" means The Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the People's Republic of China

"in writing" means writing, printing, lithography, photography, typewriting and any other mode of representing words in a visible form, including but not limited to, electronic ~~form-mail~~

"Members" mean collectively, the Basic Members and the Ordinary Members or any one of them

"Ordinance" means the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong)

"Ordinary Members" mean the ordinary members of the Association

"Secretary" means the Honorary Secretary of the Association for the time being

"Treasurer" means the Honorary Treasurer of the Association for the time being

"Vice-Chairmen" mean the Vice-chairmen of the Association for the time being

Words importing the singular number shall include the plural, and vice versa.

Words denoting neuter gender shall include the masculine or feminine gender, and vice versa.

3. The appropriate forms of application for admission to, or of nomination for membership as a "Member" of the Association shall be in the form as from time to time be prescribed or approved at any duly constituted meeting of the Committee by a resolution passed by a majority of the whole number present and it shall be competent for the Committee at any such meeting by a resolution to alter or incorporate additional terms to such forms of application.
4. A candidate shall be deemed to have applied for admission as a Member when he has completed the appropriate application form.
5. Every Member shall from time to time notify the Secretary a place of business or residence to be registered as his place of address, and the place so from time to time registered shall for the purposes of the Ordinance and these Articles be deemed his registered address.
6. ~~If a Member fails to give a place of address in Hong Kong, he shall not be entitled to receive notice in advance of any of the General Meetings or other proceedings of the Association, and no~~ meeting or other proceeding shall be invalidated by reason of ~~his~~ any Member not having received ~~such any~~ notice of General Meetings as aforesaid.
7. The Association in General Meeting may from time to time impose reasonable restrictions as regards the time and manner at and in which the accounts and books of the Association, or any of them shall be open to inspection by the Members, subject, as regards the Register of Members, annual returns, balance sheets and the minute books of proceedings of General Meetings, to the provisions of the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong). Subject to any such restrictions, the books and accounts shall be open to their inspection during business hours.

Membership

8. Subject to the requirements of the applicable laws, Any past student of Wah Yan College, Kowloon, who has attended the school but is no longer a pupil of the school, is qualified to become a Basic Member. The number of Basic Members is declared to be unlimited.

Subject to the requirements of the applicable laws, Any past student of Wah Yan College, Kowloon, who has attended the school for not less than one academic year but is no longer a pupil of the school, is qualified to become an Ordinary Member. The number of Ordinary Members is declared to be unlimited.

9. All Life Members of the unincorporated Wah Yan Past Students' Association who have attended Wah Yan College, Kowloon shall also be the Basic Members.
10. Subject to the requirements of the applicable laws, The Committee may from time to time determine what entrance fees and what life membership subscriptions shall be paid upon admission to membership with the sanction of a General Meeting.
11. No part of the entrance fees and life membership subscriptions shall be refundable to the Member if he ceases to be a Member for any reason.
12. The Committee may from time to time with the sanction of a General Meeting call upon the Members to contribute funds for the purpose of the Association or any of them or for any charitable purpose or such purposes as determined in the General Meeting. Every Member shall be bound to pay such contributions as prescribed by the Committee but in no circumstances, the contributions made in one year shall amount to more than twice the entrance fees and life membership subscriptions.

Determination of Membership

13. Any Member may determine his membership by two months' notice in writing to the Secretary, and upon expiration of the notice, unless it has been withdrawn, his membership shall cease.

Rights, Privileges and Obligations

14. All Basic Members shall be entitled to the following rights and privileges:-
 - (a) to nominate, to elect, be nominated and be elected as the alumni manager;
 - (b) to attend and vote at the general meetings of the Association;
 - (c) to elect the members of the Committee; and
 - (d) to participate in all activities organized by the Association.

All Ordinary Members shall be entitled to the following rights and privileges:-

- (a) to enjoy the rights of a Basic Member;
- (b) to be elected as member of the Committee; and
- (c) to propose, to vote, and to recall office-bearers of the Committee.

All Members shall fulfil the following obligations:-

- (a) abide by this Articles of Association and the resolutions of the Association; and
- (b) pay membership fees.

15. The rights and privileges of membership shall not be assignable.
16. If any Member shall neglect for twelve months to pay any money due from him to the Association, the Committee may forthwith suspend his privileges of membership and may serve upon him a notice in writing appointing a day and place for payment. If he continues to default for one month after services of such notice, his membership shall cease.

~~The Patrons and~~ Honorary Advisors

17. The Committee may invite any person or persons whether Members or not to become the ~~Patron or~~ Honorary Advisors of the Association from time to time. The ~~Patron or~~ Honorary Advisors shall not be

obliged to pay any fee or subscription. Any person who has accepted the office of a ~~Patron or~~ Honorary Advisors may relinquish it at any time, upon written notice being given to the Committee.

General Meetings

18. The Annual General Meeting of the Association shall be held in each year at such time and place as may be determined by the Committee (but so that no more than fifteen months be allowed to elapse between any two Annual General Meetings) for the purpose of transacting the business of the Association, the election of the members of the Committee and the Auditors for the ensuing twelve months and of receiving the income the expenditure account and balance sheet for the past with the Auditors' Report and also a report from the Committee on the past year's transactions and accounts as well as for the discussion of questions incidental to the affairs of the Association.
19. Any Member wishing to bring before the Annual General Meeting any motion not relating to the business stated in Article 18, shall give notice of such motion to the Committee through the Secretary two weeks before the date fixed for the Annual General Meeting, and no such motion shall come before the Annual General Meeting unless such notice has been given, or unless the Committee shall see fit to dispense with this rule in any particular case.
20. Extraordinary General Meetings of the Association shall be held at such time and place as the Committee shall from time to time appoint.
21. At least twenty-one days' notice of every Annual General Meeting, and at least fourteen days' notice of every Extraordinary General Meeting, specifying the day, the place and the hour of the General Meeting, and in the case of special business ~~of~~ the general nature of such business, shall be given to the Members, in the manner hereinafter mentioned, or in such other manner (if any) as may be prescribed by a General Meeting, but the accidental omission to give such notice to or the non-receipt of such notice by any Member entitled thereto shall not invalidate the proceedings at any General Meeting.
22. At any General Meeting, twenty Members personally present, shall form a quorum, such quorum to be maintained or the Meeting adjourned.
23. The Committee may, whenever it thinks fit, convene an Extraordinary General Meeting, and Extraordinary General Meeting shall also be convened on such requisition or in default may be convened by such requisitionists as provided in the Ordinance.
24. All business shall be deemed special that is transacted at an Extraordinary General Meeting, and all that is transacted at an Annual General Meeting with the exception of the consideration of accounts, balance sheets, and the ordinary reports of the Committee and Auditors, and the election of the members of the Committee in the place of those retiring pursuant to the regulations herein contained.

Proceedings at General Meeting

25. The Chairman, or in his absence the Vice-Chairmen, shall preside as Chairman at every General Meeting. If neither the Chairman or Vice-Chairmen be present within ten minutes after the time appointed for the General Meeting, the Members present shall choose one of their number to be Chairman of such General Meeting.
26. The Chairman may, with the consent of any General Meeting, adjourn the same from time to time and from place to place; but no business shall be transacted at any adjourned General Meeting other than the business left unfinished at the General Meeting from which the adjournment took place.

27. Questions arising at any General Meeting shall be decided on a show of hands of the Members present, and a declaration by the Chairman that, a resolution has been carried, or carried by a particular majority or lost or not carried by a particular majority, and an entry to that effect in the book of proceedings shall be conclusive evidence of the fact without proof of the number or proportion of the votes recorded in favour of or against that resolution.
28. The Chairman of a General Meeting shall, in case of an equality of votes on a show of hand, be entitled to a casting vote in addition to the vote to which his membership entitles him.
29. Every Member shall be entitled to receive notice of and to attend every General Meeting. Every Member shall be entitled to one vote, which may be given personally or by proxy.
30. The instrument appointing a proxy shall be in writing under the hand of the appointer. The proxy is not required to be a Member. The instrument appointing a proxy shall be deposited at the registered office of the Association not less than forty-eight hours before the time for holding the General Meeting at which the person named in such instrument proposes to vote; but no instrument appointing a proxy shall be valid after the expiration of twelve months from the date of its execution.
31. Every instrument of proxy shall be in the form ~~or to the effect the following:~~as may be designated by the Committee from time to time.
- ~~I, _____ of _____ in Hong Kong, being a member of WAH YAN COLLEGE, KOWLOON PAST STUDENTS' ASSOCIATION LIMITED, hereby appoint _____ or failing him of _____ as my proxy for me and on my behalf at the [Annual or Extraordinary] General Meeting of the Association to be held on the _____ day of _____ and at any adjournment thereof.~~
- ~~_____ Signed this day _____ of _____~~
32. -No person shall be entitled to be present or to vote on any question either personally or by proxy or as proxy for another at any General Meeting, whilst any money is due from him to the Association.
33. At every other General Meeting at which a member of the Committee retires from office, his retirement shall not take effect until the dissolution of the General Meeting.

Extraordinary General Meeting

34. If necessary, and upon the written request of over half of the members of the Committee or ten ordinary members of the Association, the Chairman must convene an Extraordinary General Meeting within 3 weeks after receipt of the request. However, discussions and resolutions at the Extraordinary General Meeting shall be restricted to those subjects as raised in the request. The quorum shall be the same at that for the General Meeting.
35. Proposals for amendments to the articles of association of the Association shall not be made except at the Annual General Meeting or an Extraordinary General Meeting specially convened for the purpose of considering, passing or rejecting such proposals.
36. In the event of the Committee resigning in a body or failing to convene an Annual General Meeting for more than 15 months after the holding of the last Annual General Meeting and of there being at any time no person or persons in whom the management of the affairs of the Association may for the time being vested in any 10 Members may immediately call an Extraordinary General Meeting which a fresh committee may be elected to hold office until the next Annual General Meeting.

Officers and Committee

37. The supreme authority of the Association shall rest in the General Meeting during which the Committee comprising of not less than 9 and not more than 40 members shall be elected. The Committee members shall then elect among themselves a Chairman, not more than three Vice-Chairmen, a Secretary, and a Treasurer and the remaining members serve as ordinary Committee members, shall be the supreme executive body.

The Committee may at its discretion either in connection with a specific matter or for a period not extending beyond the year of its office, co-opt others as members of the Committee, but those co-opted members of the Committee shall not be entitled to a vote or to be reckoned towards the quorum.

38. The Principal of Wah Yan College, Kowloon shall be the Honorary President of the Association. He/She shall not be required to pay membership fees.

The retiring Chairman shall be the Vice President of the Association after his retirement as Chairman until the retirement of his successor.

The retiring Vice President shall be the President of the Association after his retirement as Vice President until the retirement of his successor.

39. All members of the Committee shall serve without remuneration. Their term of office shall be one year and they may be re-elected.
40. At every Annual General Meeting, all members of the Committee shall retire and shall be eligible for re-election.
41. Any member of the Committee whose membership of the Association ceases shall ipso facto vacate his office.
42. If any casual vacancy shall occur among the Chairman, the Vice-chairmen, the Secretary or the Treasurer, the Committee shall thereupon fill the vacancy, but any person so appointed shall retire at the next Annual General Meeting, but shall be eligible for re-election if duly nominated.

Proceedings of the Committee

43. The Committee shall meet as required and shall ordinarily meet twelve times per year.
44. The Committee may make such regulations as it thinks proper as to the summoning and holding of its Meetings, and for the transaction of business thereof, and it may adjourn any Meeting, and may from time to time fix the quorum necessary for the transaction of business but until it shall otherwise determine, five members of the Committee shall form a quorum, such quorum to be maintained or the Meeting adjourned.
45. The Chairman, any one of the Vice-Chairmen, or any five members of the Committee may at any time summon an Special ad hoc-Meeting of the Committee thereof.
46. The Chairman, or in his absence, any one of the Vice-Chairmen, shall take the chair at all Meetings of the Committee: and if at any Meeting, ~~not one~~ none of them ~~be was~~ present within ten minutes after the time appointed, those present shall choose one of the members of the Committee to be Chairman of the Meeting.

47. Questions arising at any meeting of the Committee shall be decided by a majority of votes, and in case of an equality of votes, the Chairman shall have a second or casting vote.
48. The members of the Committee may act, notwithstanding any vacancy in their body, provided that the number be not reduced below six. If their number be reduced below six the continuing members may act for the purpose of filling vacancies in the Committee or convening a General Meeting, but for no other purpose.
49. A member of the Committee may at any time resign by giving notice in writing to the Secretary, but shall not thereby be disqualified from being at any time thereafter re-elected.
50. If a member of the Committee shall without leave of absence granted by the Committee, be absent from the Meetings thereof for a period of six consecutive months, the Committee may declare his office ~~vacant~~vacated, and he shall thereupon cease to be a member of the Committee.
51. Minutes of the proceedings of every Committee or Committee Meeting and of attendance thereat respectively, shall be recorded by the Secretary in a book kept for that purpose, and after approval by the Committee be signed by the Chairman of the Meeting at which they are read.
- Every such minute, when so recorded and signed shall, in the absence of proof of error therein, be considered as the accurate record of the proceeding.
52. The Association may by resolution at any Extraordinary General Meeting, of which due notice specifying the object has been given, remove a member of the Committee from his office, provided that ~~fourteen days~~ prior notice of intention to hold such Extraordinary General Meeting shall be given to such member of the Committee in accordance with the applicable laws. Upon such resolution being duly passed he shall cease to be a member of the Committee.
53. An Ordinary Member may be nominated for election as member of the Committee by not less than three Members at such election; ~~the nomination shall~~ be sent to the Secretary in writing at least fourteen days before the date of election, together with the notification in writing from such nominee of his willingness to serve upon the Committee if elected.
54. All acts of the Committee and of its appointed agents in their respective capacity shall be valid, notwithstanding that some defect shall afterwards be discovered to have existed or to have arisen in the appointment of or by the Committee in the appointment of any member of the Committee or of any such Agent.

Powers of the Committee

55. In the management of the Association, the Committee shall, in addition to the powers and authorities expressly conferred upon them by these Articles, be entitled to exercise all such powers and do all such acts and things as may be exercised or done by the Association pursuant to the statute or required to be exercised or done by the Association in General Meeting.
56. The Committee shall have the power to:
- (a) from time to time appoint or terminate the appointment of any person as an official or servant of the Association;
 - (b) from time to time make such rules and regulations for ensuring and carrying into effect the objects of the Association including charitable fund as it may think fit, not involving any such alteration of or

addition to these Articles as could only legally be made by special resolution, and may from time to time alter and amend the same;

- (c) in the temporary absence of the Secretary, or his inability to act, may appoint any person to act in his stead: and the person so appointed may temporarily exercise all the powers and duties of the Secretary; and
 - (d) subject to the requirements of the applicable laws and the regulations of the relevant governmental authorities, formulate and amend the rules and procedures for the election of alumni manager, provided that such system of election shall be fair and transparent.
57. (a) The Chairman shall represent the Association, conduct all its affairs, and preside over all its meetings save meetings of sub-committees which may be formed from time to time.
- (b) The Vice-Chairmen shall assist the Chairman in undertaking the affairs of the Association. In case the Chairman is absent, on leave or has vacated his post, they shall act for him.
- (c) The Secretary shall attend to the correspondence and the secretarial work of the Association and record the minutes of all meetings.
- (d) The Treasurer shall attend to all financial matters, receipts and payments of the Association. He shall compile, before the convocation of the Annual General Meeting, a statement of accounts which, after being approved by the Committee and duly audited, shall be submitted to the Annual General Meeting for adoption.
58. The Committee shall provide for the safe custody of the Common Seal of the Association (if any), and make regulations as to the use thereof, but the Common Seal shall not be affixed to any instrument except by the authority of a resolution of the Committee and in the presence of the Chairman of the Association, or of the Vice-Chairmen and of the Secretary; and the Chairman or the Vice-Chairmen and the Secretary shall sign every instrument to which the Common Seal of the Association is so affixed in their presence.

Discipline

59. The Committee may issue warning to or at an Extraordinary General Meeting specially convened expel a member of a Committee who is found by the Committee to have been guilty of any one of the following:
- (a) infringement of the constitution or resolutions of the Association; or
 - (b) committing corruptive acts by using the name of the Association and thereby impairing its fair reputation.

Election of Office Bearers

60. Nominations for the posts of Committee members shall be made and seconded at the General Meeting by members attending in person. Not less than 9 nor more than 40 of the candidates who received the highest number of votes by a show of hands shall be elected as Committee members.
61. The new Committee members shall forthwith elect one another to fill the various posts of the Committee. The retiring Chairman, Vice-chairmen, Secretary and Treasurer shall hand over their office to their respective successor within ten days.

Election of Alumni Manager

61A The Association may nominate such number of persons for registration as alumni manager as may be designated by the Incorporated Management Committee of Wah Yan College, Kowloon. The term of office of the alumni manager shall be specified by the Incorporate Management Committee of Wah Yan College, Kowloon.

61B The system of election of the alumni manager for the purposes of making nomination under article 61A shall be fair and transparent and in compliance with all requirements of the applicable laws and the relevant governmental authorities.

61C The Association shall establish an alumni manager election committee (the "Election Committee") when an election is required to be held. The Election Committee shall comprise such number of Committee members of the Association as it may consider appropriate. The Election Committee may also appoint professional advisors as it may consider appropriate.

61D Only past students who have registered as a voter for the alumni manager election shall be eligible to be elector of alumni manager. Before each alumni manager election is held, reasonable chance should be offered to the past students to register as a voter for the alumni manager election. The Election Committee shall arrange voter registration for the purpose of alumni manager election at such time as it may consider appropriate. The following past students shall be eligible to register as a voter for alumni manager election (the "Registered Voter"):

- (a) any past student who has attended class in Wah Yan College, Kowloon but is no longer a pupil of the school;
- (b) the past student is over the age of 18 years on the date of submitting the voter registration form to the Election Committee; and
- (c) such other criteria as the Election Committee may properly and reasonably determine from time to time.

For the avoidance of doubt, a Registered Voter is not required to be a Member.

61E Before each alumni manager election is held, the Election Committee shall arrange for the nomination of candidates for the alumni manager election:

- (a) the Election Committee may specify the maximum number of candidate(s) each Registered Voter may nominate for the alumni manager election;
- (b) the Election Committee shall specify the period of nomination of alumni manager election, provided that such period shall not in any event be less than 14 days or such longer period as may be required under the applicable laws or the relevant governmental authorities; and
- (c) the period between the deadline for nomination and the date of voting for alumni manager election shall comply with the requirements of the applicable laws or the relevant governmental authorities.

61F The following past students shall be eligible to be a candidate for the alumni manager:

- (a) any past student who has attended class in Wah Yan College, Kowloon but is no longer a pupil of the school;
- (b) the past student is over the age of 18 years on the date of submitting his election registration form to the Election Committee;

(c) the past student is not a current teaching staff of Wah Yan College, Kowloon;

(d) the past student has obtained such number of valid nominations as the Election Committee may determine, provided that the requirements must be reasonable and fair and the number of valid nominations shall not in any event be less than 2; and

(e) such other criteria as the Election Committee may properly and reasonably determine.

For the avoidance of doubt, the candidate for alumni manager is not required to be a Member.

61G The Election Committee shall arrange for the voting of the alumni manager election:

(a) voting at the alumni manager election shall be conducted by secret ballot as far as is practicable;

(b) voting shall be conducted at such place(s) in Hong Kong on such date and time as the Election Committee may reasonably designate;

(c) in addition to voting in person, as far as is practicable, arrangement should be made for the Registered Voters to cast his vote by other means as the Election Committee may reasonably determine; and

(d) the candidate who has the highest number of votes shall be elected as the alumni manager. When two or more candidates obtain the same number of votes, the candidate to be elected shall be determined by drawing lots by any one of the Chairman or Vice-chairmen of the Association. In the event that there is only one candidate for the alumni manager upon expiry of the nomination period, that only candidate shall be automatically elected.

61H Any unsuccessful candidate may, within one week of the announcement of the election results, appeal to the Election Committee in writing together with the reasons. The Association shall establish an appeal committee comprising not less than 3 members who are Committee members of the Association. The appeal committee may appoint professional advisors as it may consider appropriate. The appeal committee shall review and assess the election results thereof. The determination of the appeal committee shall, in the absence of manifest error, shall be final and conclusive.

61I In the event that an alumni manager vacancy arises out of the expiry of the term of office or resignation tendered by the incumbent alumni manager or any other reason whatsoever, the Association shall conduct an election and make nomination of the alumni manager to fill the vacancy in accordance with the requirements of the applicable laws or governmental authorities.

61J In the event that the applicable laws and/ or governmental authorities prevailing from time to time impose more stringent requirements on the alumni manager election as compared with the provisions of these Articles, the relevant requirements of the applicable laws and/ or the governmental authorities shall prevail and the Election Committee shall follow the same accordingly.

Accounts

62. The Committee shall cause true accounts to be kept of the moneys received and expended by the Association, and the matters in respect of which such receipts and expenditure take place, of the assets, credits and liabilities of the Association and of all sales and purchases of goods by the Association. The Accounts shall be closed on the 31st day of December each year, and a balance sheet containing a summary of the assets and liabilities of the Association on that day shall be prepared, together with an income and expenditure account for the year ending on that day.

63. At the Annual General Meeting each year, the duly audited accounts for the year ending 31st day of December of the immediately preceding year with all vouchers and receipts, and also the balance sheet, shall be presented and reported upon by the Treasurer, and at the Annual General Meeting the Auditors of the Association shall be represented.
64. A copy of the income and expenditure account and balance sheet shall, not less than ~~seven~~twenty one days before each Annual General Meeting, be sent to every Member entitled to receive notices of the Annual General Meetings, together with copies of the Reports of the Committee and the Auditors.
65. All entrance fees, subscriptions, and other moneys payable to the Association shall be received by the Treasurer, or by such person as the Committee may from time to time appoint to act temporarily in his place.
66. The Committee may, from time to time, resolve to make grants to charitable fund or other organization.
- The Committee may, from time to time, reserve or set apart out of the moneys of the Association, such sums as, in its judgment are necessary or expedient, to be at the discretion of the Committee applied in providing a sinking fund to pay off debentures or encumbrances of the Association, or for any other purposes of the Association.
67. All moneys received shall be kept in an appointed bank, and all cheques shall be signed by any two of the following officers, namely, the Chairman, the Vice-Chairmen, the Secretary and the Treasurer, or such other manner as the Committee may approve from time to time. The Treasurer is empowered to keep cash of an amount not exceeding HK\$500 to meet petty cash payments. The receipt of the Treasurer or the Secretary for all moneys coming to the Association shall be sufficient discharge.

Winding Up

68. The Association may be wound up by a Special Resolution passed at a General Meeting with a quorum of two-thirds of the Members. If in the winding up the assets available for distribution shall be more than sufficient, the excess shall be donated to Wah Yan College, Kowloon.